

New blue foods for biodiversity

The promise of alternative seafood

October 2023

Table of contents

Executive summary	4
Introduction	6
Seafood supply and demand	7
Biodiversity and seafood production	8
The challenges of conventional seafood	8
New modes of seafood production	
Opportunities to safeguard biodiversity through alternative seafood	
1. Protect and restore marine species.	
2. Decrease habitat transformation, land use, and associated emissions	
3. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions and mitigate ocean acidification	17
4. Minimize biocide and antimicrobial use while scaling seafood production	
Opportunities to advance alternative seafood in ocean conservation policies and programs	
Conclusion	26
References	

Authors

Meghan Jeans JD and Dr. Sian Morgan

Reviewers and contributors:

Dr. Michael Tlusty, Dr. Jennifer Bender, Dr. Heidi Weiskel, Laurie Beyranevand, J.D.

About GFI

The Good Food Institute is a nonprofit think tank working to make the global food system better for the planet, people, and animals. Alongside scientists, businesses, and policymakers, GFI's teams focus on making plant-based and cultivated meat delicious, affordable, and accessible. Powered by philanthropy, GFI is an international network of organizations advancing alternative proteins as an essential solution needed to meet the world's climate, global health, food security, and biodiversity goals. To learn more, please visit www.gfi.org.



Executive summary

The global demand for seafood is rising, and to meet that demand sustainably, we need to scale alternative methods of seafood production.

As the human population grows, incomes rise, and the average lifespan increases, so too does the demand for seafood. For the past 60 years, the global growth rate of seafood consumption has outpaced population growth, and global seafood production is now projected to increase by 14 percent (from 2020 levels) by 2030.¹ However, our marine, coastal, and freshwater ecosystems have a limited capacity to feed a growing population. While stronger governance, innovations in science and technology, and market incentives have improved the sustainability of fisheries and aquaculture in some areas, growing pressure on natural and human resources is still rapidly degrading the productivity and resilience of ocean and coastal ecosystems-and the diversity of life that depends on them.

As pressure on ocean ecosystems intensifies, biodiversity is declining across the globe. More than one million species are in danger of extinction,² and some scientists estimate that one-third of all plant and animal life alive today may be extinct by 2070.³ Research suggests that protecting and restoring biodiversity will require a massive overhaul of our global food system to decrease waste and increase sustainability and efficiency.⁴ And just as a diverse and sustainable food system is critical for biodiversity, biodiversity is foundational to a productive and resilient food system. Indeed, biodiversity loss can lead to food scarcity, nutritional deficits, economic insecurity, and international conflict.⁵ It can even increase the risk of human exposure to zoonotic pathogens.⁶

The world is at an inflection point. A growing appetite for healthy, sustainable, and socially responsible seafood coupled with advances in bioengineering, agriculture, and food science have sparked innovations in alternative seafood (specifically plant-based and cultivated seafood).

Plant-based seafood—derived from terrestrial plants, algae, or fungi—mimics the flavor and texture of conventional seafood. By contrast, cultivated seafood is identical to conventional seafood at a cellular level but is produced by cultivating muscle and fat cells from fish (or other aquatic species).

Alternative seafood can help meet growing demand while complementing existing efforts to improve the sustainability of wild-caught fisheries and aquaculture around the world.

Support from governments, nonprofits, academia, and industry will be necessary to realize the potential of cultivated and plant-based seafood as accessible, affordable, and sustainable alternatives.

In both the public and private sectors, momentum is building to advance global solutions to curb biodiversity loss while addressing the socio-economic, environmental, and human health challenges associated with conventional seafood production. Stakeholders focused on interdependent (but often siloed) issues such as biodiversity conservation, seafood sustainability, climate resilience, food security, and sustainable livelihoods can accelerate progress across all of these areas by working together to advance alternative seafood.

By prioritizing collaboration, information sharing, financing, capacity building, consumer outreach, and governance reform, the conservation community can be influential in advancing the development, uptake, and impact of alternative seafood.

Greater support for government funding for open-access research and development of alternative proteins is a critical need. Likewise, those working to realign seafood industry subsidies with sustainable practices can call upon decision makers to give alternative seafood producers equal access to subsidies, which can contribute not only to domestic economic development and job creation but also to the protection of marine ecosystems. Broader support for more domestic production of alternative seafood can also help combat seafood fraud and mislabeling by enabling more regulatory oversight of the seafood supply chain. Meanwhile, grassroots organizations can increase consumer awareness of and demand for alternative seafood. Only with the full force of the broader conservation community and partners in the public and private sectors can alternative seafood scale fast enough to help protect and restore biodiversity.

Introduction

A growing global population is fueling an ever-increasing demand for seafood. This demand is stretching the production capacity of our ocean and coasts, threatening the biological diversity upon which a functional and stable food system depends. While there have been improvements to the sustainability of wild-capture fisheries and aquaculture, we need additional and categorically new forms of seafood production to sustainably meet current and future demand.

Plant-based and cultivated seafood (collectively "alternative seafood") can help fill the growing gap between supply and demand with a smaller environmental footprint. Plant-based seafood provides the flavor and texture of conventional seafood but is made from plants, algae, or fungi. Meanwhile, cultivated seafood (also referred to as cellular aquaculture, cell-based seafood, etc.) is the components of fish or invertebrates that people consume cultivated in a bioreactor (also called a cultivator). Cultivated seafood does not create animal waste (e.g., bones, scales, eyes, or bycatch) or contain contaminants (e.g., plastics, mercury, or polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). While alternative seafood production complements existing efforts to improve the sustainability of wild fisheries and aquaculture, diversifying seafood consumption patterns to include plant-based and cultivated seafood offers environmental benefits and can help stem and reverse biodiversity loss.

But how do these alternatives compare with conventional seafood?

How and to what extent can alternative seafood address the biodiversity crisis?

How can policymakers and the ocean conservation community contribute to our understanding and the advancement of alternative seafood?

This paper explores these questions and the role alternative seafood may play in protecting and restoring biodiversity. That said, the alternative seafood sector is still in its infancy. Understanding whether and how plant-based and cultivated seafood can begin to address key environmental challenges—including biodiversity loss—will require a commitment of resources and expertise from a range of stakeholders such as scientists, economists, social scientists, funders, policy makers, food system experts, and conservation advocates.

Diversifying seafood consumption patterns to include plant-based and cultivated seafood offers environmental benefits and can help stem and reverse biodiversity loss.



Seafood supply and demand

The global consumption of seafood (both marine and freshwater) has increased at an average annual rate of three percent since 1961. Worldwide, the annual per capita consumption of seafood products has more than doubled over the last 60 years from 9.9 kg in the 1960s to 20.2 kg in 2020.7 In response to this growing demand, total fisheries and aquaculture production reached an all time high of 214 million metric tons in 2020, of which 73 percent (157 million metric tons) was for direct human consumption. While aquaculture production grew to a record high of 122.6 million metric tons in 2020,⁸ global capture fisheries production decreased by four percent compared with the average of the previous three years to 90.3 million metric tons.⁹ In addition to the impacts associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, this decline is indicative of the fact that marine-capture fisheries have little room for further growth: an estimated 93 percent of global fish stocks are either fished at maximum sustainable levels (57.3%) or overfished (35.4%).¹⁰ Increasingly, people are looking to aquaculture to fill the growing

gap between supply and demand. Indeed, total aquaculture production rose by 527 percent between 1980 and 2018,¹¹ but while aquaculture remains one of the fastest-growing food production sectors, annual growth has declined since its peak in the 1980s and 1990s.¹²

Driven by strong global demand, the value of the global seafood industry continues to grow (estimated value in 2020 was \$151 billion), however the global seafood market is characterized more by value growth than volume growth.^{13,14} Despite the increasing value and demand for seafood, seafood production is precarious and risk-laden. Globally, seafood consumption is growing at an annual rate of 3.1 percent,¹⁵ but supply is only expected to grow at an annual rate of 1.3 percent over the next decade.¹⁶ Geopolitical uncertainty, trade tariffs, climate change, and the limited production capacity of wild populations and ecosystems threaten the productivity and resilience of both aquaculture and wild-capture fisheries.¹⁷

Echoing the global trend, U.S. consumer demand for seafood has steadily risen over the past decade. In 2020, Americans consumed 19 pounds of seafood per capita, an increase of three pounds from 2017.¹⁸ Yet this is still just over half of the U.S. Dietary Guidelines' recommendation. Both the U.S. committee responsible for the Dietary Guidelines and the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (UN FAO) agree that to meet this weekly recommendation, aquaculture production would have to increase rapidly and substantially. Alternative seafood—and particularly cultivated seafood, which has the same nutritional profile as and fewer contaminants than conventional seafood—could help fill that gap.

Biodiversity and seafood production

Ocean and coastal environments offer a range of ecosystem services upon which life depends-from the oxygen we breathe to the food we consume, to the water we drink. However, anthropogenic pressures are driving an unprecedented decline in global marine biodiversity, and the loss of genetic, species, and ecosystem biodiversity threatens the productivity and resiliency of ocean ecosystems.¹⁹ The primary drivers of marine biodiversity loss include habitat destruction and modification as well as direct exploitation from unsustainable fishing practices. Meanwhile, the cumulative effects of other stressors (including climate change and ocean acidification) are compounding and accelerating biodiversity loss in ocean and coastal habitats around the world.²⁰

While there have been efforts to stem the tide of biodiversity loss via protected areas, habitat restoration, species conservation, enhanced research and monitoring, and other interventions, evidence indicates that marine biodiversity continues to decline. A 2019 report from the Intergovernmental Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services noted that humans have significantly altered

two-thirds of the ocean, which is up from 40 percent in 2008.²¹ To reverse this trend in biodiversity loss, new and novel strategies are needed. Alternative seafood offers an opportunity to diversify seafood production, reduce our environmental footprint, and restore marine biodiversity and ecosystem functionality.

Alternative seafood offers an opportunity to diversify seafood production, reduce our environmental footprint, and restore marine biodiversity and ecosystem functionality.

The challenges of conventional seafood

Globally, the seafood industry has contributed to the economic and food security of millions of people while shaping the history and culture of many regions. Increasingly, however, growth in the commercial seafood sector is coming at the expense of ocean health, human rights, and food security. As marine resources become scarcer, some are capitalizing on the opacity of the sector and turning to unfair and exploitative labor practices to lower costs and increase profits. In recent years, there has been heightened scrutiny around the issues of slavery, unfair labor, and worker abuse in the seafood industry.²² Human rights and labor abuses, while often driven by greed, corruption, socio-economic and cultural inequities, and deteriorating economic conditions, are closely linked to environmental degradation and biodiversity loss.

The UN FAO recognizes that both capture fisheries and aquaculture face major challenges, ranging from weak governance and poor management to unsustainable fishing practices and illegal, unreported, and unregulated (IUU) fishing.²³ The UN classifies government subsidies that exacerbate these challenges as "harmful subsidies." The sector has made progress in improving management, transparency, and accountability. Nevertheless, the global patchwork of laws and treaties governing fisheries and aquaculture—combined with the lack of enforcement in many places—makes it difficult for



New solutions are needed to improve transparency and accountability to help address the mounting biodiversity crisis.



consumers, brands, and policymakers to verify the sustainability of different products and make informed decisions. New solutions are needed to improve transparency and accountability to help address the mounting biodiversity crisis.

Wild-capture fisheries

Wild-capture fisheries represent one of the last vestiges of humans' hunting and gathering past. Unsustainable fishing practices, however, are a key driver of marine biodiversity loss globally.²⁴ Overfishing, illegal fishing, habitat loss, and degradation, as well as the incidental catch of non-target species (bycatch) and discards can alter ecosystem dynamics and decrease genetic, species, and ecosystem biodiversity. These stressors are compounded by the impacts of climate change, ocean acidification, coastal development, plastic pollution, eutrophication, and noise pollution in an increasingly industrialized ocean space.

The biodiversity impacts of wild-capture fisheries are highly variable and depend on the type of gear being used, the biological community where fishing is occurring, and the magnitude and frequency of fishing activities. One-by-one fisheries (e.g., harpooning, polling, and handlining) tend to be among the most selective and lowest impact forms of fishing but are limited by the target species which tend to be larger pelagic species such as tuna and swordfish. Bottom-tending mobile gear like scallop dredges and bottom trawlers can adversely impact benthic biodiversity by disturbing the seabed and damaging or destroying benthic structures and the species associated with those structures. Static fishing gear such as pots, traps, nets, and longlines can also have significant impacts on marine biodiversity. As with mobile gear, static gear can increase sediment suspension and cause changes to the benthic community and to the physical structures within those communities.²⁵

It can also lead to bycatch and entanglement of non-target fish and marine wildlife (e.g., marine mammals, sea turtles, and seabirds). Meanwhile, gear like longlines and purse seines that target highly migratory pelagic species often have high levels of bycatch of juveniles and vulnerable marine wildlife.

8

While efforts to innovate and adapt fishing gear to mitigate these impacts are ongoing, the collective impact of wild-capture fisheries is negatively affecting marine biodiversity and interfering with ecosystem functionality at local and global levels.

Aquaculture

As the volume of wild-caught seafood has plateaued, aquaculture production is increasing to meet the growing demand for seafood in the United States and abroad.²⁶ Aquaculture now accounts for half of the global seafood supply²⁷ and nearly half of the seafood imported to the United States.²⁸ Marine, freshwater, and brackish (coastal) aquaculture systems are not monolithic and vary by species and geography. They range from fish ponds, pens, and cages to rafts, ropes, and stakes for molluscs and seaweed. Depending on the stocking density of organisms, the level of inputs, and the degree of management, aquaculture systems can range from extensive to intensive.

The rapid expansion and diversification of aquaculture globally have outpaced many governments' capacity to develop strong management frameworks and mitigate environmental impacts. Where governance is lacking, market-based incentives, such as certification and rating programs, are creating standards and providing guidance to support more sustainable aquaculture and inform good governance. Even so, as aquaculture intensifies it becomes clear that aquaculture alone cannot reliably and sustainably fill the supply gap.²⁹

As aquaculture operations struggle to maximize growth efficiency and minimize costs, they encounter a variety of sustainability and biodiversity challenges. When poorly managed, aquaculture can have global biodiversity impacts through demand for fish feed as well as localized impacts from production operations. Poor siting decisions and operational management can damage coastal wetlands and nearshore habitats by adding feed residues, waste, antibiotics, hormones, diseases, and alien species to the local environment.

New modes of seafood production

Diversifying our food system to include new modes of sustainable, healthy, and socially responsible seafood production is critical to close this gap between supply and demand and to minimize the above stressors on marine biodiversity. Both plant-based and cultivated seafood offer an opportunity to do just that.

Plant-based seafood

While plant-based products have been on the market for decades, the category is evolving rapidly, and the consumer trend towards more conscious consumption is accelerating the diversification of plant-based proteins, including seafood. Eyeing the popularity of plant-based meat (e.g., the Impossible Whopper and Beyond Burger), brands are developing plant-based products that provide the taste and texture of seafood but eliminate or mitigate the environmental and health risks associated with conventional seafood: heavy metal and micro-plastic contamination, antibiotic use, food-borne illnesses like ciguatera, and allergenicity. U.S. food producers, including giants like Tyson Foods, Cargill, and General Mills are taking note and producing or investing in plant-based proteins. However, this is not limited to terrestrial meat alternatives. For instance, Bumble Bee Foods is partnering with emerging plant-based seafood companies to diversify their own portfolios, meet their sustainability commitments, and stay ahead of the competition.

Plant-based seafood is made with a broad range of processes and ingredients. The inputs vary widely and currently include soy, wheat, legumes (including pea protein), tomatoes, eggplant, seaweed, and konjac, among others. The biodiversity implications and the magnitude of environmental impacts differ across product categories and are influenced by the crops being farmed, geography, the production and harvest methods, and the scale of production, among other factors.³⁰ This variability applies even within specific product categories, which makes it difficult to generalize across a class of crop (e.g., soy or wheat). Further, there is limited research comparing

plant-based seafood's impacts to those of conventional seafood, with available data largely based on comparisons between plant-based proteins and farmed seafood.

While more research is needed to evaluate the relative impacts on biodiversity across and within different modes of seafood production, we can look at environmental indicators like land use and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions that are associated with different crops in aggregate to draw some general conclusions about the relative biodiversity impacts of plant-based seafood production.

Cultivated seafood

Cultivated seafood (also referred to as cellular aquaculture, and cell-based and cell-cultivated seafood) is produced by directly cultivating the muscle and fat cells of fish, mollusks, or crustaceans. This production method replicates the internal biological processes externally, by cultivating a sample of muscle and fat cells with amino acids, salts, vitamins, fats, and other key nutrients needed to foster growth.³¹ Essentially, it is seafood without the marine animal. Proponents of cultivated seafood contend that this emerging sector could contribute to the conservation of endangered, threatened, overfished, and otherwise vulnerable marine and aquatic species. Creating cell lines from these species could reduce the economic and environmental pressures from fisheries and aquaculture. Diversifying the supply with cultivated sources of this seafood could limit the profitability of IUU seafood.

Whether cultivated seafood can help address the biodiversity crisis depends on its environmental footprint (locally and at scale) as well as if cultivated products can displace some of the demand for conventional seafood. Since the industry is still nascent, the biodiversity impacts of cultivated seafood production remain largely unknown. What research does exist treats cultivated seafood as analogous to cultivated meat since they use similar inputs and infrastructure. The biggest possible biodiversity risks from cultivated seafood production stem from impacts associated with land use and GHG emissions in the absence of clean energy infrastructure, while the biggest potential benefits stem from its ability to decrease pressure on marine species and habitats.





Opportunities to safeguard biodiversity through alternative seafood

While the biodiversity impacts of wild-capture fisheries and aquaculture are well documented, generalizing across these sectors is difficult because the specific impacts vary depending on the region, species, fishery, and mode of production. In the absence of more comprehensive comparative data on conventional seafood, we examine four specific opportunities to mitigate the broader environmental impacts of the sector as they relate to biodiversity conservation—with the caveat that not all impacts discussed below are relevant for all species or all production methods.

1. Protect and restore marine species.

Alternative seafood enables us to increase the global supply of seafood without increasing pressure on wild fish stocks. This creates myriad opportunities to better safeguard ocean biodiversity—from reducing overfishing and IUU fishing to minimizing the associated habitat impacts, bycatch, and ghost gear. Aquaculture also carries risk to wild populations and marine ecosystems through demand for fish feed as well as escapes, entanglement, and contamination. While many look toward aquaculture to fill the growing supply gap, leveraging alternative seafood could help us avoid increasing aquaculture's adverse impacts on marine biodiversity.

Conserve and rebuild overfished stocks

Reducing the systemic pressures that drive overfishing is critical to safeguard marine biodiversity, and adding new methods of production by making seafood from plants or directly from cells can reduce these pressures. A 2020 UN FAO report estimated that 34 percent of global fish stocks are overfished,³² while another 60 percent are fished at maximum sustainable levels.³³ Conservationists agree that overfishing not only contributes to the loss of species diversity but can also disrupt trophic interactions (like predator–prey relationships), interfere with ecosystem functionality, and decrease fish production. For example, more than one-third of all cartilaginous species (e.g., sharks, rays, and chimaera) are at risk of extinction due to overfishing.³⁴ Because many sharks and rays are keystone species and apex predators, their loss can destabilize food webs and trigger cascading impacts throughout marine ecosystems.

Ending overfishing and rebuilding overfished stocks are formidable challenges that will require multipronged interventions from both the public and private sectors. An important component is building up an alternative supply chain for seafood production that can reduce pressure on fisheries. According to the World Bank, global fishing effort will need to decline by five percent per year over a 10-year period to allow fish stocks to rebuild to sustainable levels. But, as the demand for seafood increases, so too do the economic and political pressures to increase fishing effort.³⁵ Plant-based and cultivated seafood can help minimize those pressures.

Reduce wasteful bycatch and discards

Investing in an alternative seafood supply chain also presents an opportunity to reduce collateral impacts on non-target fish and wildlife. Bycatch, or the incidental capture and/or mortality of non-target species, is one of the principal threats to marine biodiversity. While non-target species with subsistence or commercial value are sometimes retained, frequently non-target fish and wildlife that are of low value or prohibited by regulations, are discarded dead or dying. Together, bycatch and discards make up an estimated 16 to 32 percent of seafood waste.³⁶ Discards alone account for approximately 10 percent of the world's annual catch.^{37, 38} In the United States, as much as two billion pounds (roughly 20 percent of the total catch) of fish are discarded by U.S. fisheries each year.³⁹ This volume of marine wildlife loss amounts to an annual economic loss of at least \$1 billion for the United States.⁴⁰ Because alternative seafood production results in neither bycatch nor discards, its adoption could alleviate global seafood production waste and biodiversity loss.

Because alternative seafood production results in neither bycatch nor discards, its adoption could alleviate global seafood production waste and biodiversity loss.

Minimize biodiversity loss from ghost gear

Reducing the amount of new and existing fishing and aquaculture gear in coastal and marine ecosystems could help protect biodiversity, with positive ecological effects for decades or even centuries. Each year, up to one million tons of fishing gear is abandoned, lost, or otherwise discarded, becoming "ghost gear."^{41, 42} Drifting aimlessly, ghost gear kills approximately 136,000 seals, sea lions, and large whales every year.⁴³ Birds, turtles, fish, and other species are also injured and killed through entanglement or ingestion.⁴⁴ Scientists for the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) caution that ghost gear can also damage ecologically important and sensitive marine habitats like coral reefs, seagrass beds, and mangroves, exacerbating marine biodiversity loss.⁴⁵ Ghost gear also reduces fishery yields and income. One study of the Washington state Dungeness crab fishery estimated an annual loss of 178,874 legal crabs with an ex-vessel value of \$744,296 from lost crab traps.⁴⁶ While improving fishing gear (e.g., on-demand technology for fixed gear fisheries) and incentivizing gear retention (e.g., creation of markets for recycled and upcycled fishing gear) can also help address these challenges, scaling alternative seafood production may lead to a reduction in the volume of ghost gear and associated mortalities and help keep fishery yields at sustainable levels.

Increase wild capture seafood supply transparency and accountability

The United States imports 62 to 65 percent of its seafood,⁴⁷ often from countries that lack rigorous governance systems and enforcement capacity to manage fisheries sustainably.⁴⁸ Increasing domestic seafood supply through alternatives and shortening the seafood supply chain could increase supply chain transparency and decrease U.S. economic support of IUU fishing. IUU fishing includes fishing activities that break the law (illegal), fail to disclose catches to authorities (unreported), and occur beyond the jurisdiction of fisheries management (unregulated). One study estimated annual global losses associated with IUU fishing from unsustainable fishing practices, destructive and indiscriminate gear, and catches that include vulnerable or protected species to be up to \$23.5 billion, representing 26 million tons of fish-or one in five wild-caught fish.⁴⁹ Building a robust domestic supply of alternative seafood can support a transition away from IUU sources abroad and help level the competitive field for responsibly managed domestic fisheries. Specifically, reducing the demand for seafood from IUU fishing would help level the playing field for fishers who follow the law and support public efforts to conserve and sustainably manage marine resources. Moreover, since the catch associated with illegal fishing goes unreported, reducing it would also contribute to more accurate total catch estimates and population assessments. which are needed to manage fishery resources sustainably.

Building a robust domestic supply of alternative seafood can support a transition away from IUU sources abroad and help level the competitive field for responsibly managed domestic fisheries.

Reduce aquaculture escapes, contamination, and wildlife mortality

Shifting production toward alternative seafood and away from less sustainable forms of aquaculture may mitigate the impact of seafood production on marine ecosystems and wildlife populations. For instance, open net pens (such as those used to farm salmon) can compromise the surrounding environment through the free exchange of chemicals, waste, parasites, and disease—all of which can harm biodiversity. Like certain types of fishing gear and ghost gear, aquaculture operations, including net pens and even vertical lines used to grow shellfish and seaweed, can attract, entrap, entangle, drown, and otherwise interfere with marine wildlife including seabirds, sea turtles, and marine mammals.⁵⁰

When net pens or ponds are connected to adjacent natural bodies of water, fish can escape and mix with wild populations. Scientists warn that the presence of non-natives can interfere with the natural behavior of wild populations and even threaten their survival by increasing competition for food, habitat, and spawning partners. Reproduction between farmed and wild populations can also compromise the genetic integrity of wild populations and decrease their ecological fitness. Where these escapees establish and reproduce successfully, they become invasive species. Even without escaping, farmed fish can spread diseases and parasites such as sea lice to wild populations.⁵¹ By contrast, neither cultivated nor plant-based seafood pose a risk of genetic contamination or disease spread as production occurs in a clean and contained facility.

Decrease marine resource needs for aquaculture feed production

Feed likely accounts for more than 90 percent of environmental impacts associated with aquaculture.⁵² One of the main challenges of aquaculture, particularly in the case of carnivorous species like salmon, is that the feed requirements can exacerbate rather than relieve pressure on wild fish populations. Approximately 20 to 35 percent of wild-capture fishery landings become fishmeal and fish oil for feed in aquaculture and terrestrial animal agriculture. In 2018, approximately 10 percent (18 million tons) of wild-capture fish was used for fishmeal and fish oil,⁵³ and the Marine Ingredients Organization (IFFO) estimates that 75 percent of that was destined for aquafeed. Moreover, two-thirds of current aquaculture production relies on fishmeal additives, an increase of 10 percent since 1980.⁵⁴ Meanwhile, neither plant-based nor cultivated seafood rely on marine-based aquafeed.

2. Decrease habitat transformation, land use, and associated emissions

For both aquaculture and alternative seafood production, the metric most closely linked to biodiversity loss is land use and habitat conversion. Similarly, wild-capture fisheries can affect the seafloor habitat. Where habitat transformation occurs, GHG emissions typically follow. Increasingly, climate change and ocean acidification—the result of increasing levels of carbon in the ocean and atmosphere—is also driving biodiversity loss and acting as a threat multiplier.^{55, 56}

Land use in aquaculture and alternative seafood is a function of both the land used to support direct production of plant-based and farmed seafood as well as the land use associated with the production of plant-based feed (for aquaculture and cultivated seafood). Growing or processing food generally reduces an ecosystem's biodiversity, while driving GHG emissions (mainly carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, and methane), which further threaten biodiversity. In general, animal products have larger land and carbon footprints per calorie than grain or vegetable products.⁵⁷ This difference is in part due to the inefficient conversion of feed calories to animal product calories.⁵⁸ For instance, it requires 100 grams of feed protein to produce 20 grams of chicken protein or 15 grams of protein from farmed shrimp.⁵⁹

Reduce marine habitat impacts from wild-capture fisheries

From coral reefs to kelp forests and deep-sea canyons, coastal and marine habitats shelter and sustain a

diversity of sealife. The extent of fishing impacts on marine habitats varies significantly and largely depends on the location, habitat type, and method of fishing. Developing cultivated and plant-based alternatives for species that are fished with the highest impact fishing methods could help create flexibility and stability in the seafood supply and a means by which governments can diversify seafood production and incentivize more sustainable practices. For instance, a shift towards plant-based or cultivated benthic species such as groundfish and scallops could reduce bottom-trawling and dredging,⁶⁰ two fishing techniques that have affected approximately 75 percent of the global continental shelf.⁶¹

Developing cultivated and plant-based alternatives for species that are fished with the highest impact fishing methods could help create flexibility and stability in the seafood supply and a means by which governments can diversify seafood production and incentivize more sustainable practices.

Limit aquaculture production site expansion and emissions impacts

Alternative seafood could also mitigate further conversion of land, the water column, or the seabed for aquaculture, which research shows can have negative effects on the local ecosystem and biodiversity. For example, removing ecologically important mangrove forests to make room for shrimp ponds has led to coastal erosion, poor water quality, and loss of biodiversity in many parts of the world.⁶² Improperly sited, high-density aquaculture can also damage the surrounding water column and seafloor Scaling plant-based seafood rather than farmed seafood to meet the growing supply gap may mitigate additional pressure on both marine and terrestrial ecosystems.



habitat through nutrient and effluent build-up which can deplete the water of oxygen and facilitate algal blooms.

Complementing the existing seafood supply with alternative seafood can enable more judicious choices for aquaculture siting and keep aquaculture density to sustainable levels.

Minimize agricultural land needs for plant inputs

Alternative proteins⁶³ can enable more efficient calorie conversion from feed crop to final product and maximize food supply while minimizing habitat transformation and land use. Some believe that plant-based aquaculture feed is more sustainable than fishmeal because it does not require finite marine resources. However, feeding plants to fish is still less efficient than using plants to produce plant-based seafood.

While direct comparisons of land use between aquaculture and alternative seafood are complex and difficult, researchers at Johns Hopkins found that, per 100 grams of protein, the median land use footprint of plant-based seafood was 41 percent smaller than that of farmed fish.⁶⁴ They suggested that eating plant-based seafood instead of farmed fish could free up cropland to produce more food for direct human consumption and allow for the restoration of converted habitats. It stands to reason that scaling plant-based seafood rather than farmed seafood to meet the growing supply gap may mitigate additional pressure on both marine and terrestrial ecosystems.

Researchers at Johns Hopkins found that, per 100 grams of protein, the median land use footprint of plant-based seafood was 41 percent smaller than that of farmed fish. The current data for cultivated meat also indicates significant potential land savings. Echoing a 2015 anticipatory life cycle analysis (LCA) of the cultivated meat industry, which suggested that cultivated meat production could use less land than livestock,⁶⁵ a 2023 anticipatory LCA for cultivated meat concluded that the land use footprint of cultivated meat may be around 2.5 m² crop-eq./kg product—substantially lower than chicken (6.8), pork (7.5), and beef (5.5 to 24.3).⁶⁶ Another recent study from Johns Hopkins reinforced this conclusion but noted that estimates of land-use intensity have a large range between 1–11 m²/year/100g protein depending on the feedstock and inputs for cell cultivation.⁶⁷

At this early stage, it is difficult to predict how much land would be required to enable the mass production of cultivated seafood. However, unlike terrestrial agriculture and many types of aquaculture, cultivating seafood may require less extensive habitat conversion because existing infrastructure could be repurposed for seafood cultivation facilities. This would negate the need to convert carbon-sequestering forests, grasslands, wetlands, and other biologically diverse ecosystems.

3. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions and mitigate ocean acidification

Climate change and ocean acidification-the result of increasing levels of carbon in the ocean and atmosphere-are increasingly important drivers of biodiversity loss.^{68, 69} As the ocean becomes more acidic, calcifying (shell-forming) organisms as well as larvae, many of whom form the base of the food chain, are vulnerable, threatening the stability of marine ecosystems. All seafood production, whether conventional or alternative, generates carbon emissions. A 2018 study estimated that fisheries consumed 40 billion liters of fuel in 2011 and generated a total of 179 million tons of CO₂-equivalent GHGs (approximately four percent of global food production).⁷⁰ Meanwhile, the GHG emissions associated with aquaculture production comprise approximately five percent of total

agricultural GHGs⁷¹ and 0.49 percent⁷² of global GHG emissions.

Limit seabed disturbance and coastal habitat transformation.

However, emerging research indicates that these numbers may not tell the whole story. For instance, some bottom-tending modes of fishing may release as much as 1.5 billion metric tons of the aqueous CO_2 from the seafloor annually-equal to what is released on land through farming.^{73, 74} The release of stored carbon into the water column likely contributes to ocean acidification and limits the ocean's capacity to buffer atmospheric CO₂—both of which can have negative effects on marine biodiversity.⁷⁵ Similarly, scientists are increasingly examining the impact of land use and conversion in evaluating the climate impacts of aquaculture production. Where land conversion occurs to make way for aquaculture production, particularly in coastal zones with high carbon sequestration and storage habitats such as mangroves, the carbon footprint can exceed conventional beef production.⁷⁶

Comparing the emissions footprints of alternative and conventional seafood is challenging due to both the tremendous diversity of seafood species and production methods and the limited body of scientific literature comparing conventional seafood to alternatives. Existing analyses often rely on data for plant-based or cultivated terrestrial meat, assumed to be representative of plant-based and cultivated seafood, respectively. With these limitations in mind, current research indicates that alternative seafood produces equal or lower emissions than many forms of conventional seafood.

Generally, plant proteins produce significantly lower emissions than both conventional meat and seafood.⁷⁷ Santo et al. (2020) reported plant-based meat (a proxy for plant-based seafood) has an emissions footprint 34 percent less than conventionally farmed fish and 72 percent less than farmed crustaceans. However, they also found that scaled, efficient fisheries (such as purse seine tuna fishing) may remain less emission-intensive than plant-based seafood.⁷⁸ Even so, a lack of transparency, poor oversight, and fraudulent and misleading labeling may make these products difficult to reliably identify in the market and less emission-intensive fisheries and farms may be confronting other sustainability challenges.

Scale seafood production with renewable energy.

Understanding future emissions from cultivated seafood is more complex. As with other dimensions of environmental sustainability, only limited research examines energy use and emission projections for cultivated seafood. Current analyses rely on cultivated meat as a proxy, but some experts note that cultivated seafood production may be less energy-intensive than cultivated meat production. Researchers and cultivated protein producers have observed that marine cell cultures may be more forgiving in terms of temperature, pH, and oxygen requirements compared to mammalian cell cultures, which may have implications for energy use and cost in mass production. Whereas mammalian cells need to be maintained at a certain temperature, room temperature is sufficient for most fish cells.⁷⁹

The findings of Santo et al. (2020), Gephart et al. (2021), and Sinke et al. (2023) indicate that cultivated meat using conventional energy sources may have emissions greater than most wild and farmed seafood products but less than the most emissions-intensive conventional products.^{80, 81, 82} Emerging forms of renewable energy will substantially decrease cultivated meat emissions, putting them on par with the footprints of the least emissions-intensive conventional seafood that use grid power/fossil fuels. (Life cycle analyses comparing impacts using renewables across both conventional and alternative modes of seafood production are not yet available.) Scaling emissions-efficient plant-based seafood and cultivated seafood produced with renewable energy may help reduce the pressure to expand the more emission-intensive modes of aquaculture and wild capture. (Please see *Building climate policy* momentum for alternative seafood for a deeper exploration of this topic.)

4. Minimize biocide and antimicrobial use while scaling seafood production

By scaling alternative seafood to close the growing supply gap, we can minimize use of biocides (i.e., pesticides, fungicides, and herbicides) and antimicrobials, including antibiotics, for seafood production, helping protect microbial diversity and mitigate the risk of antibiotic pollution and antibiotic-resistant disease as seafood production grows.

Plant-based aquaculture feed, plant-based seafood inputs, and cultivated seafood growth media all rely on terrestrial plant agriculture, which commonly uses biocides. In addition to habitat loss and climate change, the use of biocides in agriculture has significant effects on biodiversity. These chemicals contaminate adjacent soil and water resources and cause collateral damage to non-target plants, animals, and fungi. Direct exposure to biocides can have toxic effects on organisms and harm beneficial insect populations that function as pollinators and natural pest controls. The bioaccumulation of these toxins-the build-up of contaminants inside the tissues of a living organism-can also lead to persistent long-term harm on higher trophic level species and ecosystem functionality. While agricultural advancements like integrated pest management and biological pest controls can mitigate biocide use, simply using every agricultural harvest as efficiently as possible is critical to minimizing biocide contamination-this is what alternative seafood enables.

Limit biocide use per calorie of food production.

Because only a fraction of feed is converted into edible meat, overall biocide use per calorie is generally higher for terrestrial animal protein production than plant protein production. While there is limited research comparing pesticide use in conventional meat and fish production to that of plant-based seafood, one study found conventional pork production used 1.6 times more pesticides per unit of protein than the production of a pea-protein plant-based product.⁸³ Likewise, another study compared the biocide inputs for conventional meat protein to a soy-derived plant-based meat and found that conventional meat required six times more biocides.⁸⁴ While biocide use may be lower in plant-based products than terrestrial animal-based proteins, how plant-based seafood would compare to farmed seafood would vary depending on the use of plant-based feed versus fishmeal and fish oil for aquafeed. However, where fishmeal and fish oil are used for aquafeed instead, pressure on wild fish populations increases. Advancing more sustainable agricultural practices that reduce biocides and simultaneously maximizing efficient use of crops via plant-based seafood can help mitigate biodiversity loss on both land and sea.

Mitigate the acceleration of antibiotic-resistance.

Alternative proteins may also help reduce the spread of both antibiotic-resistant disease, a threat to public health, as well as antimicrobial pollution, a threat to terrestrial and marine ecosystems and biodiversity. To meet the growing demand for seafood globally, aquaculture production has increased by an average of 5.8 percent annually since 2001. The drive to increase production volume has, in many cases, come at the expense of biosecurity, good husbandry practices, and strong management standards. High stocking densities and the increasing incidence of aquatic pathogens are prompting producers to rely increasingly on the use of antimicrobials to stimulate growth and battle disease. These practices are leading to greater levels of antimicrobial resistance across a diversity of aquaculture species.⁸⁵ Research

suggests that for some aquaculture species, the intensity of antimicrobial use exceeds the levels consumed by terrestrial animals and humans.⁸⁶ What's more, the use of antibiotics in aquaculture is particularly dangerous because drug residues and pathogens spread more easily and more consistently in water than in land-based systems.⁸⁷ The implications of increasing antimicrobial use in aquaculture are not insignificant as chronic exposure to antimicrobials can have deleterious effects on aquatic species, ecosystem functionality, and human health.⁸⁸

Both plant-based and cultivated seafood offer the opportunity to scale seafood production with no or negligible antibiotics.

Plant-based seafood production, on the other hand, does not require the use of antibiotics. Similarly, it is anticipated that antimicrobial use in cultivated seafood will be minimal, just as antibiotics are not typically used in biopharmaceutical manufacturing. Antibiotic use in cell cultivation can compromise proliferation, differentiation, and gene expression, and Good Cell Culture Practice mandates the use of aseptic techniques—such as those used in biopharmaceutical manufacturing—to avoid antibiotic use.⁸⁹ Both plant-based and cultivated seafood offer the opportunity to scale seafood production with no or negligible antibiotics.



Opportunities to advance alternative seafood in ocean conservation policies and programs

Just as alternative seafood can advance ocean conservation, so too can the ocean conservation community accelerate progress on alternative seafood to fully realize the benefits sooner. While many view alternative proteins as a way to mitigate the environmental impacts associated with conventional animal protein production, governments are beginning to embrace alternative proteins, and in particular cultivated meat and seafood, as a global solution that can reduce emissions, strengthen food security, improve public health, and provide economic development opportunities.

Singapore, the first country to approve cultivated meat, is poised to become the hub for cultivated meat protein production in Asia. Because Singapore imports more than 90 percent of its food, it is particularly vulnerable to supply chain disruptions—like those caused by COVID-19. Cultivated proteins, which can be produced locally, may offer a more reliable, sustainable, and accessible protein source for the small city-state. Likewise, Israel's leaders have been publicly outspoken about support for the sector and have invested \$18 million in a cultivated meat research consortium. The Israeli government has also funded start-ups, built pilot plants, and taken steps to ensure a robust regulatory framework. Currently, the United States has more companies and higher levels of private investment in this sector than any other country in the world. However, the United States lags behind countries like Singapore and Israel in terms of public sector support for plant-based and cultivated products. Leveraging alternative seafood to address the mounting biodiversity crisis will require: (1) policies that enable a clear path to market and a level playing field for these products to compete with conventionally produced proteins; and (2) government investments to advance the science, scale alternative seafood production, and ultimately meet consumer expectations on taste, price, and convenience.

Multiple stakeholder and multi-sectoral support will also be critical to mainstreaming alternative seafood and realizing its potential to enhance marine biodiversity. Given the cross-cutting nature of alternative seafood, advocates of biodiversity, climate resilience, and food security can add plant-based and cultivated seafood to their toolbox of solutions to accelerate progress. Indeed, an overhaul of our food system will require fundamental changes to our consumption habits as well as a redesign of how food production systems utilize natural resources. While alternative seafood complements and reinforces existing efforts to change consumer behavior and improve the sustainability of fishing and farming practices, diversifying our food system and mainstreaming alternative seafood will require collaboration at both a domestic and international level. That collaboration will need to focus on various strategies, from governance reforms and public financing to public education and market incentives. Below is a partial list of engagement opportunities around alternative seafood that aligns with many of the conservation community's existing priorities.

1. Recognize alternative seafood as a biodiversity and climate solution.

Climate change exacerbates the biodiversity crisis. It can alter the abundance, distribution, and diversity of marine species and disrupt natural behaviors such as feeding, development, reproduction, and predator-prey relationships. Trends in biodiversity loss cannot be reversed without also addressing climate change. Conversely, protecting biodiversity can mitigate the negative effects of climate change. Protecting and restoring coastal blue carbon habitats can be a powerful carbon-sequestration and storage strategy. Biodiversity is also critical to achieving the goals of the Paris Agreement under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. António Guterres, the UN Secretary-General, noted in the foreword to the 2020 UN Global Biodiversity Outlook 5 that "climate change threatens to undermine all efforts to conserve and sustainably manage biodiversity, and that nature itself offers some of the most effective solutions to avert the worst impacts of a warming planet."90

Approximately one-third of the net reductions in GHG emissions required to meet the goals of the Paris Agreement could come from nature-based or natural climate solutions.⁹¹ Our ocean and coasts offer a host of nature-based solutions to the climate crisis, including maintaining or increasing natural habitats for sequestration purposes. Blue carbon ecosystems such as mangroves, seagrass beds, salt marshes, estuaries, and other coastal wetlands can sequester and store ten times more carbon than tropical rainforests.⁹² In addition to their sequestration capacity, these ecosystems play a critical role in supporting both terrestrial and marine biodiversity, acting as nurseries and providing habitat for a range of species at different life stages.

Scientists estimate that the total coastal wetland loss due to human activities is greater than 67 percent of its original area.⁹³ The conversion of mangrove forests and other coastal blue carbon ecosystems to make way for aquaculture production and other human developments not only removes important carbon sinks but can release large reservoirs of previously sequestered carbon. Likewise, protecting the carbon-rich seabed from destructive bottom trawling may mitigate climate change and ocean acidification.⁹⁴ Diversifying modes of seafood production to include alternative seafood and shifting seafood production away from these critically important ecosystems could not only help restore biodiversity but also ensure that these areas maintain their value as important carbon sinks.

In addition to enabling more nature-based solutions to climate change, alternative seafood may help lower GHG emissions. While conventional seafood production is comparatively less carbon-intensive than terrestrial animal agriculture,⁹⁵ plant-based products generally generate fewer GHG emissions than both terrestrial meat and seafood.⁹⁶

Diversifying modes of seafood production to include alternative seafood and shifting seafood production away from these critically important ecosystems could not only help restore biodiversity but also ensure that these areas maintain their value as important carbon sinks. Organizations involved in climate and biodiversity advocacy can join calls to reform food systems and reduce carbon emissions by investing in alternative protein innovation.



Cultivated seafood, on the other hand, is still in its nascent stages so projections for energy use and GHG emissions associated with cultivated seafood are still hypothetical, and most studies do not reflect the anticipated shift to less carbon-intensive energy sources. Decarbonization of the cultivated seafood production process will be critical to mitigating its potential impacts on biodiversity.

Organizations involved in climate and biodiversity advocacy can join calls to reform food systems and reduce carbon emissions by investing in alternative protein innovation. Several domestic and international initiatives seeking to transform food production would benefit from broader stakeholder support. For instance, the Agriculture Innovation Mission for Climate (AIM4C), a joint initiative created by the United States and the United Arab Emirates, seeks to address the climate crisis by increasing and accelerating climate-smart agriculture and food systems innovation. Private entities are stepping up to fund alternative proteins as part of AIM4C. In the U.S., organizations should call upon Congress and the executive branch to prioritize open-access research on alternative seafood as a central component of the government's and NOAA's climate change agenda.⁹⁷

2. Advocate for public investment in open-access science

To better understand the role that alternative seafood can play in mitigating the biodiversity crisis and accelerate the integration of alternative seafood into our diets, sustained public investment in open-access collaborative research is needed. To date, much of the research around alternative proteins has been industry-funded, and focused on financial returns rather than conservation outcomes. Rather than focus on short-term financial returns, publicly funded, open-access science can benefit long-term environmental, social, and economic outcomes and ensure that the results are accessible, credible, and transparent. Public investment in early-stage, precompetitive research focused on solving technological, operational, and impact-related challenges experienced across the industry can accelerate the development of the entire sector. Likewise, public research can connect

and strengthen the currently fragmented research ecosystem by enabling researchers to co-prioritize issues, avoid duplication, and facilitate collaboration among industry, academia, government agencies, nonprofit organizations, and other relevant stakeholders.

Public funding can also strengthen our understanding of the environmental impacts associated with different modes of seafood production. Public support for independent third-party LCAs and a voluntary standard framework to enable comparisons between conventional seafood and alternative seafood products are vital. Additionally, targeted research to evaluate the biodiversity impacts of agricultural expansion or infrastructure development can help alternative seafood fully meet its promise to advance biodiversity.

In addition to enhancing our collective scientific knowledge,⁹⁸ ensuring a sustainable and equitable food system transition requires behavioral and structural changes. Public research can identify appropriate pathways and strategies for advancing alternative seafood (e.g., policies, industry performance standards, taxes, subsidies, labeling, and public awareness campaigns). This interagency research could be coordinated by the White House's Office of Science and Technology Policy.⁹⁹

3. Support alignment of economic incentives to level the playing field for alternative seafood production.

Ensuring fair competition so alternative seafood can compete with the conventional seafood industry will require policy reforms to help achieve economies of scale and ensure that government subsidies support seafood production processes that safeguard biodiversity. While not all subsidies are harmful (e.g., support for gear innovation to mitigate bycatch and habitat damage), as much as \$20 billion of the \$35 billion in total global subsidies directly contributes to overfishing.¹⁰⁰ Indeed, subsidies in the United States tend to be dominated by fuel subsidies, which many in the conservation community view as problematic given that the total value of subsidies equates to approximately one-fifth the value of the catch itself.¹⁰¹ Harmful subsidies can encourage less sustainable practices, artificially deflate prices, and put the emerging plant-based and cultivated seafood sectors at a competitive disadvantage.

In 2015, the UN Sustainable Development Goals established a target of prohibiting harmful fisheries subsidies that contribute to overcapacity and overfishing.¹⁰² This effort was echoed by the UN Convention on Biological Diversity's new global biodiversity framework which calls upon member states to "redirect, repurpose, reform or eliminate incentives harmful for biodiversity, in a just and equitable way" by 2030.¹⁰³ Recalibrating subsidies to encourage practices and production processes that support biodiversity should include ensuring that alternative seafood production qualifies.¹⁰⁴

A number of U.S. nonprofits are working with decision-makers to eliminate harmful fisheries subsidies and the perverse incentives that undermine efforts to end overfishing, rebuild depleted fish stocks, and protect marine biodiversity. Proposals to repurpose public funding to protect and restore the marine environment often accompany these calls. Organizations making such proposals should highlight how alternative seafood, as part of the blue economy, can contribute to domestic economic development, job creation, food security, and marine biodiversity to help attract more government support for this burgeoning industry.

4. Ensure a clear and efficient regulatory process and labeling rules for alternative seafood.

Given its potential biodiversity and climate benefits, alternative seafood should not be subject to regulatory requirements that exceed the norms for conventional proteins. This is especially important for cultivated seafood, which has not received regulatory clearance as of June 2023 in the United States. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) should exert its regulatory authority fairly and ensure that safe, properly labeled cultivated seafood can come to market without unduly onerous regulatory requirements. Likewise, the United States can provide leadership in the Codex Alimentarius ("Food Code") Commission to help develop guidance or model regulations for cultivated seafood that assists other nations in developing their own fair regulatory frameworks. Simultaneously, the two multilateral organizations that convene the Codex—the UN Food and Agriculture Organization and the World Health Organization—should continue to encourage regulators and subject-matter experts to share information about bringing alternative seafood to market safely.

Further, FDA, which regulates the labels of seafood and most other foods in the United States, including plant-based seafood, should continue to support fair labeling rules for plant-based seafood products to allow producers to communicate to consumers that these foods have the taste and texture of familiar seafood products and are made from plants.¹⁰⁵

5. Combat seafood fraud and mislabeling with domestic production of alternative seafood.

A movement toward more conscious seafood consumption requires detailed and accurate information on seafood products. However, fraud and mislabeling of conventional seafood is widespread. An analysis conducted by The Guardian of 44 recent studies found that 36 percent of more than 9,000 samples from restaurants and retailers in more than 30 countries were mislabeled.¹⁰⁶ By obscuring the source and/or species, seafood fraud enables IUU fishing and causes global biodiversity loss. As commercially and ecologically valuable fish stocks decline, the economic incentives for intentional fraud increase, creating a vicious cycle of depletion and causing annual economic losses to the global economy of \$26 to 50 billion.¹⁰⁷ While NGOs and policymakers are working to curb fraud and enable greater transparency and traceability into the seafood industry, the complexity and opacity of the global seafood supply chain makes this a daunting task.

Enabling more domestic seafood production shortens the seafood supply chain and mitigates the risk of fraud. Alternative seafood presents an opportunity to establish more domestic plant-based and cultivated seafood production facilities for species that are traditionally imported and/or are the subject of fraud and mislabeling. Plant-based seafood alternatives can capitalize on existing agricultural infrastructure, and both plant-based and cultivated seafood production facilities can be established almost anywhere in the United States, including inland and more economically depressed areas. Local producers could cater to regional demands, simplify supply chains, and contribute to economic growth and job creation-all while reducing pressure on vulnerable fish and wildlife populations and ecosystems. The conservation community and policy makers can encourage domestic production of alternative seafood along with clear, robust, and equitable labeling and traceability requirements to de-incentivize seafood fraud and mislabeling and meet the demand for more socially and environmentally responsible seafood.

Plant-based seafood alternatives can capitalize on existing agricultural infrastructure, and both plant-based and cultivated seafood production facilities can be established almost anywhere in the United States, including inland and more economically depressed areas.

6. Enhance consumer awareness to influence demand for alternative seafood.

American consumers are becoming increasingly aware of the inextricable link between ocean health and human health. Recent surveys show that consumers are increasingly concerned about the nutrition and sustainability profiles of their protein choices. As such, more and more consumers are seeking alternatives to red meat and turning to seafood, both wild and farmed. Yet even as the demand for seafood grows, declines in ocean health are prompting many to reconsider their preference for wild-capture fish.¹⁰⁸ However, consumers are currently more concerned about the health-related risks of seafood consumption (e.g., plastic, heavy metal, and chemical contamination) than they are about the biodiversity impacts of wild-capture fisheries and aquaculture.

Notably, younger consumers are more concerned about sustainability and ocean health issues than older generations and are open to alternative production methods like cultivated seafood. In fact, 45 percent of Millennials already know about cultivated seafood, and 43 percent of Americans are willing to replace some or all their current seafood consumption with cultivated products.¹⁰⁹ The growing

While the industry is actively working to communicate with and appeal to consumers, the conservation community including seafood certification and rating programs—can start to familiarize the public, industry partners, and decision-makers with the potential benefits of alternative seafood. American demand for seafood is likely to increase pressure on global fish stocks and the ecosystems that support both wild-capture fisheries and aquaculture production. However, younger consumers' interests in healthy and sustainable protein choices offer an opportunity to engage people on issues related to ocean health and to diversify seafood production to include alternative seafood.¹¹⁰

The challenge of increasing alternative seafood acceptance is as much about accessibility, affordability, and taste as it is about biodiversity, health, and other societal benefits. While the industry is actively working to communicate with and appeal to consumers, the conservation community-including seafood certification and rating programs—can start to familiarize the public, industry partners, and decision-makers with the potential benefits of alternative seafood. At the same time, for alternative seafood to yield real conservation benefits, consumers must embrace it. One study that looked at the potential environmental benefits of cultivated seafood observed that after developing a viable product, securing regulatory approval, and introducing it to the market at a competitive price point, companies will need to capture a significant proportion of conventional seafood market share to realize the conservation benefits, and encouraging adoption of alternative seafood will help.^{111,112} Thus, a coordinated campaign that elevates consumer awareness, modifies choice settings such that the more sustainable choice is the more affordable and accessible choice, and advocates enabling policies will be critical to advancing alternative seafood development and adoption as a strategy to protect biodiversity.



Conclusion

Biodiversity is the foundation of a well-functioning food system, and yet food production today is one of the leading causes of global biodiversity loss both on land and at sea. Reimagining seafood production represents a significant opportunity for biodiversity restoration. Seizing this opportunity will require transformative changes to our food system and a more expansive understanding of sustainability.

Whereas seafood sustainability was once narrowly construed as whether a specific target species was overfished or not, our collective vision for sustainability is evolving to include dimensions such as biodiversity, ecosystem health, climate change, and social equity. Plant-based and cultivated seafood challenge us to think even more broadly and explore how these novel products compare with conventional seafood, what role they can play in transforming the broader food system, and how they align with changing consumer values and the growing demand for sustainable and delicious food.

We need innovative, equitable, and sustainable diversification of the global food system to restore and protect biodiversity, mitigate climate change, and feed a growing population. Whether plant-based and cultivated seafood can help meet this need will depend on sustained support from policymakers and the conservation community. Advancing workable solutions will require a commitment to multi-sectoral collaboration, information sharing, capacity building, and funding for open-access science. Mainstreaming alternative seafood will also require a transparent and equitable governance framework that levels the playing field for alternative seafood, incentivizes innovation, and facilitates a transition towards a more sustainable, diverse, and resilient food system that protects and enhances biodiversity.

References

- 1. "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022: Towards Blue Transformation." Food and Agriculture Organization, 2022. https://www.fao.org/3/cc0461en/cc0461en.pdf.
- Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services." Zenodo, November 25, 2019. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.3553579.
- Román-Palacios, Cristian, and John J. Wiens. "Recent Responses to Climate Change Reveal the Drivers of Species Extinction and Survival." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117, no. 8 (February 25, 2020): 4211–17. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1913007117.
- Leclère, David, Michael Obersteiner, Mike Barrett, Stuart H. M. Butchart, Abhishek Chaudhary, Adriana De Palma, Fabrice A. J. DeClerck, et al. "Bending the Curve of Terrestrial Biodiversity Needs an Integrated Strategy." *Nature* 585, no. 7826 (September 2020): 551–56. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2705-y, 551-556.
- 5. Keesing, Felicia, and Richard S. Ostfeld. "Impacts of Biodiversity and Biodiversity Loss on Zoonotic Diseases." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118, no. 17 (April 27, 2021): e2023540118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2023540118.
- 6. Keesing and Ostfeld. "Impacts of Biodiversity and Biodiversity Loss."
- 7. "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022: Towards Blue Transformation." Food and Agriculture Organization, 2022. https://www.fao.org/3/cc0461en/cc0461en.pdf.
- 8. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2022."
- 9. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2022."
- 10. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2022."
- 11. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2020."
- 12. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2018." (Annual growth rate is now 5.8%.)
- 13. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2018."
- 14. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2022."
- 15. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2020."
- 16. OECD, and Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. *OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2020-2029*. OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook. OECD, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1787/1112c23b-en.
- 17. Food Outlook: Biannual Report on Global Food Markets, November 2019. Rome: FAO Trade and Markets Division, 2019.
- 18. Fisheries, NOAA. "Fisheries of the United States | NOAA Fisheries." NOAA, May 12, 2022. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/national/sustainable-fisheries/fisheries-united-states.
- Worm, Boris, Edward B. Barbier, Nicola Beaumont, J. Emmett Duffy, Carl Folke, Benjamin S. Halpern, Jeremy B. C. Jackson, et al. "Impacts of Biodiversity Loss on Ocean Ecosystem Services." *Science* 314, no. 5800 (November 3, 2006): 787–90. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1132294.
- 20. Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform On Biodiversity And Ecosystem Services. "Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services." Zenodo, November 25, 2019. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.3553579.
- 21. IPBES. "Global Assessment Summary for Policymakers."
- 22. The White House. "Memorandum on Combating Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated Fishing and Associated Labor Abuses." The White House, June 27, 2022. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2022/06/27/memorandum-on-combating-illegal-unreported-and-unregulated-fishing-and-associated-labor-abuses/.
- 23. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2018."
- 24. Sandra Díaz, Josef Settele, Eduardo S. Brondízio, Hien T. Ngo, John Agard, Almut Arneth, Patricia Balvanera, et al., "Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth points to the need for transformative change," *Science* 366 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aax3100.

- 25. Fennell, Hannah, Marija Sciberras, Jan Geert Hiddink, Michel J. Kaiser, Eric Gilman, David Donnan, and Rory Crawford. "Exploring the Relationship between Static Fishing Gear, Fishing Effort, and Benthic Biodiversity: A Systematic Review Protocol." *Environmental Evidence* 10, no. 1 (2021): 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13750-021-00242-y.
- 26. Food and Agriculture Organization," The State of World Fisheries 2020."
- 27. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries 2020."
- 28. NOAA Fisheries. "Fisheries of the United States." NOAA, May 12, 2022. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/national/sustainable-fisheries/fisheries-united-states.
- 29. Pilling, Dafydd, and Julie Bélanger. "The State of the World's Biodiversity for Food and Agriculture." Rome: FAO Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, 2019.
- 30. O'Donnell, "Life Cycle Assessment of American Wheat: Analysis of Regional Variations in Production and Transportation." PhD dissertation, University of Washington, 2009.
- 31. Rubio, Natalie, Isha Datar, David Stachura, David Kaplan, and Kate Krueger. "Cell-Based Fish: A Novel Approach to Seafood Production and an Opportunity for Cellular Agriculture." *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 3 (June 11, 2019): 43. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2019.00043.
- 32. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020."
- 33. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020."
- 34. Dulvy, Nicholas K., Nathan Pacoureau, Cassandra L. Rigby, Riley A. Pollom, Rima W. Jabado, David A. Ebert, Brittany Finucci, et al. "Overfishing Drives over One-Third of All Sharks and Rays toward a Global Extinction Crisis." *Current Biology* 31, no. 21 (November 2021): 4773-4787.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.08.062.
- 35. World Bank. The Sunken Billions Revisited: Progress and Challenges in Global Marine Fisheries. Washington, DC: World Bank, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0919-4. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 3.0 IGO
- 36. Love, Dave C., Jillian P. Fry, Michael C. Milli, and Roni A. Neff. "Wasted Seafood in the United States: Quantifying Loss from Production to Consumption and Moving toward Solutions." *Global Environmental Change* 35 (November 2015): 116–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.08.013.
- Zeller, Dirk, Tim Cashion, Maria Palomares, and Daniel Pauly. "Global Marine Fisheries Discards: A Synthesis of Reconstructed Data." Fish and Fisheries 19, no. 1 (January 2018): 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12233.
- 38. Gilman, E., A. Perez Roda, T. Huntington, S. J. Kennelly, P. Suuronen, M. Chaloupka, and P. A. H. Medley. "Benchmarking Global Fisheries Discards." *Scientific Reports* 10, no. 1 (December 2020): 14017. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-71021-x.
- Oceana. "Wasted Cash: The Price of Waste in the U.S. Fishing Industry." Accessed November 21, 2022. https://oceana.org/reports/wasted-cash-price-waste-us-fishing-industry/.
- 40. Oceana. "Wasted Cash."
- 41. Jambeck, Jenna R., Roland Geyer, Chris Wilcox, Theodore R. Siegler, Miriam Perryman, Anthony Andrady, Ramani Narayan, and Kara Lavender Law. "Plastic Waste Inputs from Land into the Ocean." *Science* 347, no. 6223 (February 13, 2015): 768–71. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260352.
- 42. Macfadyen, G., Tim Huntington, and Rod Cappell. Abandoned, Lost or Otherwise Discarded Fishing Gear. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper 523. Rome: United Nations Environment Programme : Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2009.
- 43. World Animal Protection. "Fishing's Phantom Menace: How ghost fishing gear is endangering our sea life." London: WPA, 2014. https://www.worldanimalprotection.org/sites/default/files/media/int_files/sea-change-campaign-tackling-ghost-fishing-gear_0.pdf
- 44. World Animal Protection. "Fishing's Phantom Menace."
- 45. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Marine Debris Program. "Report on Marine Debris Impacts on Coastal and Benthic Habitats." Silver Spring, MD: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Marine Debris Program, 2016.
- 46. Antonelis, Kyle, Daniel Huppert, Don Velasquez, and Jeffrey June. "Dungeness Crab Mortality Due to Lost Traps and a Cost–Benefit Analysis of Trap Removal in Washington State Waters of the Salish Sea." *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* 31, no. 5 (October 2011): 880–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/02755947.2011.590113.
- 47. Gephart, Jessica A., Halley E. Froehlich, and Trevor A. Branch. "To Create Sustainable Seafood Industries, the United States Needs a Better Accounting of Imports and Exports." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116, no. 19 (May 7, 2019): 9142–46. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1905650116.

- 48. NOAA Fisheries estimates seafood imports to be between 80–90%, but a percentage of government-reported imports is seafood caught or farmed in the U.S., exported to other countries for processing, and then imported back into the U.S. for distribution and sale. The 62–65% figure reflects products imported into the U.S. that were caught or farmed in other countries.
- 49. Agnew, David J., John Pearce, Ganapathiraju Pramod, Tom Peatman, Reg Watson, John R. Beddington, and Tony J. Pitcher.
 "Estimating the Worldwide Extent of Illegal Fishing." Edited by Stuart A. Sandin. *PLoS ONE* 4, no. 2 (February 25, 2009): e4570. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004570.
- 50. Clement, Deanna. "Effects on Marine Mammals" in *Literature Review of Ecological Effects of Aquaculture*, Nelson, New Zealand: Cawthron Institute, 2013. https://www.mpi.govt.nz/dmsdocument/3752-Literature-Review-of-Ecological-Effects-of-Aquaculture-Chapter-4-Effects-on-Marin e-Mammals
- 51. Shea, Dylan, Andrew Bateman, Shaorong Li, Amy Tabata, Angela Schulze, Gideon Mordecai, Lindsey Ogston, et al. "Environmental DNA from Multiple Pathogens Is Elevated near Active Atlantic Salmon Farms." Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 287, no. 1937 (October 28, 2020): 20202010. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.2010.
- 52. Little, David C., James A. Young, Wenbo Zhang, Richard W. Newton, Abdullah Al Mamun, and Francis J. Murray. "Sustainable Intensification of Aquaculture Value Chains between Asia and Europe: A Framework for Understanding Impacts and Challenges." Aquaculture 493 (August 2018): 338–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.12.033.
- 53. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020."
- 54. Food and Agriculture Organization, "The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2014: Opportunities and challenges" (Rome, Italy, 2014).
- 55. Newbold, Tim, Lawrence N. Hudson, Samantha L. L. Hill, Sara Contu, Igor Lysenko, Rebecca A. Senior, Luca Börger, et al. "Global Effects of Land Use on Local Terrestrial Biodiversity." *Nature* 520, no. 7545 (April 2, 2015): 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14324.
- 56. Díaz et al., "Summary for policymakers..."
- 57. Poore, J., and T. Nemecek. "Reducing Food's Environmental Impacts through Producers and Consumers." *Science* 360, no. 6392 (June 2018): 987–92. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaq0216.
- 58. Weber, Christopher L., and H. Scott Matthews. "Food-Miles and the Relative Climate Impacts of Food Choices in the United States." Environmental Science & Technology 42, no. 10 (May 2008): 3508–13. https://doi.org/10.1021/es702969f.
- 59. Searchinger, Tim, R. Waite, C. Hanson, J. Ranganathan "Creating a Sustainable Food Future | World Resources Report" (p. 73). Washington, D.C.: World Resources Institute. https://research.wri.org/wrr-food
- Fisheries, NOAA. "Fishing Gear: Dredges." NOAA, August 6, 2018.
 https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/national/bycatch/fishing-gear-dredges.; Fisheries, NOAA. "Fishing Gear: Bottom Trawls." NOAA, July 6, 2022. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/national/bycatch/fishing-gear-bottom-trawls.
- 61. Kaiser, Michel J, Jeremy S Collie, Stephen J Hall, Simon Jennings, and Ian R Poiner. "Modification of Marine Habitats by Trawling Activities: Prognosis and Solutions." *Fish and Fisheries* 3, no. 2 (June 2002): 114–36. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-2979.2002.00079.x.
- 62. Wesenbeeck, B.K. van, T. Balke, P. van Eijk, F. Tonneijck, H.Y. Siry, M.E. Rudianto, and J.C. Winterwerp. "Aquaculture Induced Erosion of Tropical Coastlines Throws Coastal Communities Back into Poverty." *Ocean & Coastal Management* 116 (November 2015): 466–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2015.09.004.
- 63. The term "alternative proteins" is broadly construed to include all plant-based and cultivated center-of-the-plate products that have a comparable culinary use and sensory profile to conventional meat and seafood products. While most products in this category provide high protein content as well, some, such as those made from mushroom or jackfruit, do not.
- 64. Santo, Raychel E., Brent F. Kim, Sarah E. Goldman, Jan Dutkiewicz, Erin M. B. Biehl, Martin W. Bloem, Roni A. Neff, and Keeve E. Nachman. "Considering Plant-Based Meat Substitutes and Cell-Based Meats: A Public Health and Food Systems Perspective." Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems 4 (August 31, 2020): 134. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2020.00134.
- 65. Mattick, Carolyn S., Amy E. Landis, Braden R. Allenby, and Nicholas J. Genovese. "Anticipatory Life Cycle Analysis of In Vitro Biomass Cultivation for Cultured Meat Production in the United States." *Environmental Science & Technology* 49, no. 19 (October 6, 2015): 11941–49. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b01614.
- 66. Sinke, P., Swartz, E., Sanctorum, H. et al. "Ex-ante life cycle assessment of commercial-scale cultivated meat production in 2030," Int J Life Cycle Assess (2023): 28, 234–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-022-02128-8
- 67. Santo et al., "Considering Plant-Based Meat Substitutes."
- 68. Newbold et al. "Global effects."

- 69. Díaz et al., "Summary for policymakers..."
- Parker, Robert W. R., Julia L. Blanchard, Caleb Gardner, Bridget S. Green, Klaas Hartmann, Peter H. Tyedmers, and Reg A. Watson.
 "Fuel Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions of World Fisheries." *Nature Climate Change* 8, no. 4 (April 2018): 333–37. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0117-x.
- 71. Waite, Richard, Malcolm Beveridge, Randall Brummett, Sarah Castine, Nuttapon Chaiyawannakarn, Sadasivam Kaushik, Rattanawan Mungkung, Supawat Nawapakpilai, and Michael Phillips, "Improving Productivity and Environmental Performance of Aquaculture." Washington, D.C.: World Resources Institute (2014). https://files.wri.org/d8/s3fs-public/WRI14_WorkingPaper_WRR5_final.pdf
- 72. MacLeod, Michael J., Mohammad R. Hasan, David H. F. Robb, and Mohammad Mamun-Ur-Rashid. "Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Global Aquaculture." *Scientific Reports* 10, no. 1 (July 15, 2020): 11679. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-68231-8.
- 73. Sala, Enric, Juan Mayorga, Darcy Bradley, Reniel B. Cabral, Trisha B. Atwood, Arnaud Auber, William Cheung, et al. "Protecting the Global Ocean for Biodiversity, Food and Climate." *Nature* 592, no. 7854 (April 2021): 397–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03371-z.
- 74. Davidson, Eric A., and Ilse L. Ackerman. "Changes in Soil Carbon Inventories Following Cultivation of Previously Untilled Soils." *Biogeochemistry* 20, no. 3 (September 1, 1993): 161–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00000786.
- 75. Sala et al., "Protecting the Global Ocean for Biodiversity."
- 76. Boone Kauffman, J, Virni B Arifanti, Humberto Hernández Trejo, Maria Carmen Jesús García, Jennifer Norfolk, Miguel Cifuentes, Deddy Hadriyanto, and Daniel Murdiyarso. "The Jumbo Carbon Footprint of a Shrimp: Carbon Losses from Mangrove Deforestation." Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 15, no. 4 (May 2017): 183–88. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1482.
- 77. Poore & Nemecek, "Reducing Food's Environmental Impacts."
- 78. Santo et al., "Considering Plant-Based Meat Substitutes."
- 79. Rubio et al., "Cell-Based Fish."
- 80. Santo et al., "Considering plant-based meat substitutes."
- Gephart, Jessica A., Patrik J. G. Henriksson, Robert W. R. Parker, Alon Shepon, Kelvin D. Gorospe, Kristina Bergman, Gidon Eshel, et al. "Environmental Performance of Blue Foods." *Nature* 597, no. 7876 (September 2021): 360–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03889-2.
- 82. Sinke et al., "Ex-ante life cycle assessment of commercial-scale cultivated meat production in 2030."
- 83. Newbold et al. "Global Effects."
- 84. Reijnders, Lucas, and Sam Soret. "Quantification of the Environmental Impact of Different Dietary Protein Choices." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 78, no. 3 (September 1, 2003): 664S-668S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/78.3.664S.
- 85. Cabello, Felipe C, Henry P Godfrey, Alejandro H Buschmann, and Humberto J Dölz. "Aquaculture as yet Another Environmental Gateway to the Development and Globalisation of Antimicrobial Resistance." *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 16, no. 7 (July 2016): e127–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(16)00100-6.
- 86. Schar, Daniel, Eili Y. Klein, Ramanan Laxminarayan, Marius Gilbert, and Thomas P. Van Boeckel. "Global Trends in Antimicrobial Use in Aquaculture." *Scientific Reports* 10, no. 1 (December 14, 2020): 21878. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-78849-3.
- 87. Done, Hansa Y., Arjun K. Venkatesan, and Rolf U. Halden. "Does the Recent Growth of Aquaculture Create Antibiotic Resistance Threats Different from Those Associated with Land Animal Production in Agriculture?" *The AAPS Journal* 17, no. 3 (May 2015): 513–24. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12248-015-9722-z.
- 88. Kraemer, Susanne A., Arthi Ramachandran, and Gabriel G. Perron. "Antibiotic Pollution in the Environment: From Microbial Ecology to Public Policy." *Microorganisms* 7, no. 6 (June 22, 2019): 180. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7060180.
- 89. McNamara, Eileen, and Claire Bomkamp. "Cultivated Meat as a Tool for Fighting Antimicrobial Resistance." *Nature Food* 3, no. 10 (October 2022): 791–94. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-022-00602-y.
- 90. "Global Biodiversity Outlook", Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, accessed December 2021, https://www.cbd.int/gbo/gbo5/publication/gbo-5-en.pdf
- 91. Griscom, Bronson W., Justin Adams, Peter W. Ellis, Richard A. Houghton, Guy Lomax, Daniela A. Miteva, William H. Schlesinger, et al. "Natural Climate Solutions." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, no. 44 (October 31, 2017): 11645–50. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1710465114.
- 92. Wylie, Lindsay, Ariana E. Sutton-Grier, and Amber Moore. "Keys to Successful Blue Carbon Projects: Lessons Learned from Global Case Studies." *Marine Policy* 65 (March 2016): 76–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2015.12.020.

- 93. Lin, Qiaoying, and Shen Yu. "Losses of Natural Coastal Wetlands by Land Conversion and Ecological Degradation in the Urbanizing Chinese Coast." *Scientific Reports* 8, no. 1 (October 9, 2018): 15046. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-33406-x.
- 94. Sala et al., "Protecting the Global Ocean for Biodiversity..."
- 95. Poore & Nemecek, "Reducing Food's Environmental Impacts."
- 96. Santo et al., "Considering Plant-Based Meat Substitutes."
- 97. "Comment to NOAA on Alternative Seafood and Climate Change The Good Food Institute." Accessed November 21, 2022. https://gfi.org/comment-letters/comment-to-noaa-on-alternative-seafood-and-climate-change/.
- 98. Note: Organizations including the Good Food Institute and New Harvest are working to reduce barriers to entry by supporting foundational research and facilitating investments and information sharing within the burgeoning alternative seafood sector.
- 99. "To the Office of Science and Technology Policy on Creating an Interagency Research Initiative on Alternative Proteins The Good Food Institute." Accessed November 21, 2022. https://gfi.org/comment-letters/to-the-office-of-science-and-technology-policy-on-creating-an-interagency-research-initiative-onalternative-proteins/.
- 100. "Joint Statement Fourteenth session of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development", UNCTAD-FAO-UNEP, (Nairobi, Kenya, July 17-20 2016),
 - https://unctad.org/meeting/fourteenth-session-united-nations-conference-trade-and-development-unctad-14
- 101. Sharp, Renée, and U. Rashid Sumaila. "Quantification of U.S. Marine Fisheries Subsidies." North American Journal of Fisheries Management 29, no. 1 (February 2009): 18–32. https://doi.org/10.1577/M07-170.1.
- 102. "A New Global Framework for Managing Nature through 2030: 1st Detailed Draft Agreement Debuts," Convention on Biological Diversity. Accessed December 2021, https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2021/07/a-new-global-framework-for-managing-nature-through-2030-1st-deta iled-draft-agreement-debuts/.
- 103. "First Draft of the Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework," Convention on Biological Diversity, accessed, October 2021, https://www.cbd.int/doc/c/abb5/591f/2e46096d3f0330b08ce87a45/wg2020-03-03-en.pdf
- 104. "Joint Statement Fourteenth session of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development." (Globally, fisheries subsidies are estimated to be as high as \$35 billion, of which \$20 billion directly contributes to overfishing.)
- 105. "An Overview of Food Label Censorship The Good Food Institute." Accessed November 21, 2022. https://gfi.org/resource/an-overview-of-food-label-censorship/.
- 106. Leahy, Stephen. "Revealed: Seafood Fraud Happening on a Vast Global Scale." *The Guardian*, March 15, 2021, sec. Environment. https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2021/mar/15/revealed-seafood-happening-on-a-vast-global-scale.
- 107. Sumaila, U. R., D. Zeller, L. Hood, M. L. D. Palomares, Y. Li, and D. Pauly. "Illicit Trade in Marine Fish Catch and Its Effects on Ecosystems and People Worldwide." *Science Advances* 6, no. 9 (February 28, 2020): eaaz3801. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz3801.
- 108. Changing Tastes. "Go Fish: The Great American Reconsideration of Our Protein Choices." Accessed October 2021. https://www.dropbox.com/s/5kz6alazm1ekjq6/Executive%20Briefing%20-%20Go%20Fish.pdf?dl=0
- 109. Changing Tastes, "Go Fish."
- 110. Changing Tastes, "Go Fish."
- Halpern, Benjamin S., Jason Maier, Heather J. Lahr, Gordon Blasco, Christopher Costello, Richard S. Cottrell, Olivier Deschenes, et al.
 "The Long and Narrow Path for Novel Cell-based Seafood to Reduce Fishing Pressure for Marine Ecosystem Recovery." *Fish and Fisheries* 22, no. 3 (May 2021): 652–64. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12541.
- 112. Stephens, Neil, Lucy Di Silvio, Illtud Dunsford, Marianne Ellis, Abigail Glencross, and Alexandra Sexton. "Bringing Cultured Meat to Market: Technical, Socio-Political, and Regulatory Challenges in Cellular Agriculture." *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 78 (August 2018): 155–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2018.04.010.